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PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

This matter came on for an arbitration hearin@:@0 a.m. on August 16, 2017 in a
conference room at the Ohio Reformatory for Wonietv9 Collins Avenue, Marysville, Ohio
43040. At the hearing both parties were affordddllaand fair opportunity to present evidence
and arguments in support of their positions. ThHet@tion hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m. on
August 16, 2017 and the evidentiary record wased g that time.

Post-hearing briefs were received from both psitiiethe arbitrator by September 15, 2017
and exchanged between the parties by the arbiwat&eptember 16, 2017.

This matter proceeds under a collective bargaiagrgement in effect between the parties
from July 1, 2015 through February 28, 2015, JBittibit 1.

No issue as to the arbitrability of the grievahes been raised. Under the language of the
parties’ collective bargaining agreement, Joint iBithl, the arbitrator finds the grievance

arbitrable and properly before the arbitrator ®riew and resolution.

STIPULATED ISSUE STATEMENT

Was the Grievant, Kenneth Rausch, removed froma@mpgent for just cause?

If not, what shall the remedy be?

JOINT STIPULATIONS

1. Grievant was classified as a correctional officer.
2. Date of Hire: June 19, 2000.
3. Date of removal: May 6, 2016.

4. The Grievant had a written reprimand on higréat the time of removal.



JOINT EXHIBITS

1. 2015-2018 .

2. Grievance Trail

w

. Disciplinary Trail

4. (1) CD-RW

o

Standards of Employee Conduct (SOEC)

o

Grievant training records

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties to this arbitration proceeding, thete&sof Ohio, Department of Rehabilitation
and Correction, Ohio Reformatory for Women, herttéeérathe Employer, and the Ohio Civil
Service Employees Association, American Federati@tate, County and Municipal Employees,
Local 11, AFL-CIO, hereinafter the Union, are pastito a collective bargaining agreement in
effect from July 1, 2015 through February 28, 2Qit#nt Exhibit 1. Within the parties’ Agreement
in Article 24, section 24.01 the Employer is protatd from imposing discipline upon a bargaining
unit member except for just cause.

The grievant in this proceeding, Kenneth Rausds hired by the Ohio Department of
Rehabilitation and Correction on June 19, 2000 ¢okwas a Correctional Officer at the Ohio
Reformatory for Women in Marysville, Ohio. Mr. Rducontinued in this employment at the Ohio
Reformatory for Women as a Correctional Officeiiluris removal effective May 6, 2016 through
an order of removal addressed to Mr. Rausch andd®d to a Union representative on May 6,
2016.

The written order removing Correctional Officerrifeth Rausch from his employment



with the State of Ohio, Department of Rehabilitatiand Correction cites four Standards of
Employee Conduct Rules as having been violatede Bhl— Purposeful or careless acts which
result in damage, loss, or misuse of State propertynclude but not limited to vehicles and
telephones, for which a first offense calls fomage of discipline from a written reprimand to a
one day suspension; Rule 18 — Threatening, intitimgaor coercing another employee or a
member of the general public, for which a firsteoife calls for a range of discipline from a two-
day suspension to a removal; Rule 37 — Any acaiturke to act that could compromise or impair
the ability of an employee to effectively carry dig/her duties as a public employee, for which a
first offense calls for a range of discipline frantwo-day suspension to a removal, and Rule 38 —
Any act, or failure to act or commission not othisevset forth herein which constitutes a threat
to the security of the facility, staff, any indivdl under the supervision of the Department, or a
member of the general public.

On May 12, 2016 the Union filed a grievance wite Employer on behalf of Mr. Rausch.
The grievance charged that the Employer removedribgant effective May 6, 2016 without just
cause. The grievance filed on behalf of Mr. Rausutles that Mr. Rausch had no discipline on file
and it is charged in the grievance that the disegpimposed upon Mr. Rausch is procedurally
defective as Correctional Officer Rausch receivetifination of his discharge over the telephone
on May 9, 2016 but was never served the terminatamuments. The Union asks that Mr. Rausch
be returned to duty and made whole through payingRdusch for all lost wages and benefits.

The grievance remained unresolved between theepaatind was moved to final and
binding arbitration at the direction of the Uniom @r about September 29, 2016.

The arbitration hearing herein began and conclumledugust 16, 2017. Post-hearing

briefs from the parties were received by SepteribefP017.



SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY

Michelle Thomas

Michelle Thomas is employed by the Ohio DepartnoéiRehabilitation and Correction as
a Correction Records Management Officer. Ms. Thommas provided over nineteen years of
service to the department.

Ms. Thomas identified Joint Exhibit 3, page 3laasncident report prepared and signed

by Ms. Thomas on January 6, 2016. The incidentrtedaeads as follows:

Upon returning to work on 12/18/2015 | had a messag my work phone from
the night before at 9:00pm on 12/17/2015. The platiavas from my ex husband
Ken Rausch who also works for the Ohio Departmé@mrections at the Ohio
Reformatory for Women and active on STAR/SRT. Tiere call was of a
personal nature, he proceeded to say, “You ararglebe piece of shit parent to
my son Joe, you are violating all kinds of fuckingstody agreements. You
narcassistic (sic) piece of shit.”

At that time | did not report the phone call. | gha child with Mr. Rausch and try
very hard to maintain peace for my son’s sake dralé never wanted our personal
life to be brought into work or jeopardize anyoneimployment. On Monday
1/04/2016 Mr. Rausch texted my personal cell phonthe evening and made
derogatory/racial statements about my current mgsbRick Thomas who also
works for the Department of Corrections (at FMCallidg my husband, “Nigger”.
He also stated, “Die bitch, die bitch, | will makere”. My ex husband and | have
always had issues in trying to effectively commatecand get a long since | have
worked here at Operation Support Center in 2012hbs never spilled over into
the work place and affected my work until recenitlyelieve this all started shortly
after | got married to Mr. Thomas and after Mr. Relu had claimed that my
husband’s ex wife Amanda Moon (who also works f@ tlepartment) has been
talking with him and trying to convince him to hélpr in her custody battle against
her ex husband. Apparently Ms. Moon sees Mr. Rauwgtdn she is at the Ohio
Reformatory for Women working. | know it is diffituto leave personal issue
outside of the work environment when | have angouse, current spouse, and my
husband’s ex spouse all working with the same deyat. | am concerned that
this will interfere with my job and would like itdaressed now before it goes any
further.

Ms. Thomas was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pade the transcription of a telephone



message left on a work telephone extension assigniglichelle Thomas, received on December
17, 2015 at 9:09 p.m. that reads as follows:

Michelle Thomas you are a complete piece-of-shiepato my son, Joe. You're

violating all kinds of fucking custody agreemeritattwe have. He is supposed to

talk to me every freaking night. But, you choosetdy do what you want to do

because you think you are the only person thatpomant in any kind of

relationship. You are a very narcissistic piecesiof-and my son is way more

important than you are and he will contact me eday per our agreement. And if

you continue to violate that, then | will take yioack to court. So, you have a very

good day and | hope my son has a better day witthenehe does you because he

loves being with me way more than you. Have a dae
Ms. Thomas stated that the above transcribed redaslephone message from her ex-husband,
Kenneth Rausch, was left on her state telephone.

Ms. Thomas was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pabea/ohotograph of Ms. Thomas's office
telephone displaying the date, time, and telepmumeber corresponding to a voice mail message
left by Kenneth Rausch. The photograph displaydephone number - 19372431605 and shows
the call was missed at 9:08 p.m. on 12/17/15. Menfas testified that she first heard this recorded
message on December 18, 2015. Ms. Thomas tedtidhe number appearing on the screen of
her state telephone in the photograph was thehtefepnumber of Kenneth Rausch’s telephone.

Ms. Thomas was asked why she had waited to repertelephone message she had
received from her ex-husband on December 18, 2@85Thomas testified that she was hoping
to end the discord between them and wanted thestinck to stop for the sake of her son. Ms.
Thomas stated that later text messages from hausizand became more threatening and were
viewed as more serious.

Ms. Thomas identified Joint Exhibit 3, page 51passenting text messages from Mr.

Rausch received by Ms. Thomas from January 4, 2018nuary 6, 2016. These texts were



received after the voice mail message that Ms. Hsohad heard on December 18, 2015.
Joint Exhibit 3, page 51 begins with a text mesdagm Ms. Thomas to Ms. Rausch that
reads: “Quit txting me.” This text message is foléa by the following text messages from Mr.

Rausch to Ms. Thomas:

“YOU WILL NOT FUCK ME OVER EVER AGAIN!!”
“Die bitch”

“Die bitch”

“I Will make sure you”.

Ms. Thomas stated that she reported the aboveliegtise they scared her.

Ms. Thomas identified Joint Exhibit 3, pages 45, 48, 49, and 50 as pages presenting
text messages between Ms. Thomas and Mr. Raustths@ame sent prior to December 17, 2015
and some sent after that date. All of these te)dsages were reported on the same date, January
6, 2016. Joint Exhibit 3, page 45 presents a texhfMr. Rausch that reads: “I| promise you don’t
know what I'm capable of..” followed by the respensGood to know,” followed by “Yep .....
Back off... NOW!II” and “No bitch you back off,”dllowed by: “Is that how you were raised
never to trust anyone including family??”

Joint Exhibit 3, page 47 presents text messagas#ygin with: “Bitch | hope you fucking
die, I fucking hate you. You are a worthless pietshit,” followed on the next day by: “Act like
an adult and a parent stop acting like this,” ‘®@d@ copy of the shared parenting agreement,” “No
support until you get a copy to me,” and “Bitch yame just.” This was followed by: “Good night

nigger bitch,” followed by “Are you serious abouickR Thomas .... | need to know before | hurt



someone??? Or are you playn (sic) withe (sic) 2R$€ I'm telling you I'm gonna find him an
(sic) hurt him.” “That’s funny ‘cause his ex gojod working under Ed vorhees (sic) !I” “Ah, you
girls can compare notes!!!” “Ha | guess right ndgvsucks to be him! Just.”

Joint Exhibit 3, page 49 presents the followingtgefrom Mr. Rausch: “Damn .... Rick
Thomas is the definition of a DRC whore!!!” “Goaaly!!!! You got another shelton!!! People will
never stop talkin about you!'!” “Whore.” “Excuse me DRC Whore.” “You can’t ignore me!!
It's not late enough!!!! You are a stupid.,, stupilore!”

Joint Exhibit 3, page 50 presents the followinggdrom Mr. Rausch: “Oh an (sic) your
‘boyfriend’ is going to get his dick stomped inteetground when | see him! Night baby cakes!!
Michelle I'm sorry for the agony | caused you. $juvant the pain to go away. | don’t want to feel
hurt anymore...I don’t want to feel jealousy anymd?lease help me. | need help. | know | won'’t
help myself and | won't ask for help...I've almastded my life because of guilt and jealousy
because of.”

Ms. Thomas testified that when she received tteede she became fearful for her life and
her husband'’s life.

Ms. Thomas identified Joint Exhibit 3, page 73aSivil Order of Protection she secured
from the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin Cour®hio, Division of Domestic Relations
pursuant to Ohio Revised Code section 3313.31. piutective order demanded that Kenneth
Rausch be restrained from committing acts of alougbreats of abuse against Michelle Thomas
and other protected persons named in this ordés.artder became effective January 19, 2016.

The terms of the January 19, 2016 civil protecboder are presented at Joint Exhibit 3,
page 76. These terms include a prohibition aga#rstRausch entering or interfering with the

residence, school, business, place of employment,cdre centers, or child care providers for



protected persons named in this order; Mr. Rauschduired to stay at least five hundred (500)
feet from any protected persons; Mr. Rausch isredi@ot to initiate or have contact with the
persons named in the protective order or theirdeggies, businesses, places of employment,
schools, day care centers, or child care providers.

Ms. Thomas testified that she secured the cioilgmtion order because she feared violence
from her ex-husband and had feared that it coutdioin the workplace. Ms. Thomas stated that
the threats made by her ex-husband to her anduséahd frightened her.

Under questioning by the Union’s representative, Whomas agreed that the transcribed
December 17, 2015 voice mail message did not irchuthreat of violence and agreed that Mr.
Rausch on this one occasion had left a personadagedor Ms. Thomas on her state telephone.

Ms. Thomas confirmed that the text messages ajmgeiar Joint Exhibit 3, pages 45 — 53
were sent during evening hours and not during vinailrs. Ms. Thomas confirmed that the text
messages appearing at Joint Exhibit 3, pages 4bweke sent prior to January 26, 2014.

Ms. Thomas confirmed that the text messages fipaa at Joint Exhibit 3, page 45 were
attached to an email from Ms. Thomas dated JanR@&ry2014 concerning threats from Mr.
Rausch, and the text messages at Joint Exhibiage @7 were attached to an email from Ms.
Thomas dated January 26, 2014.

Ms. Thomas testified that the text messages at Hoihibit 3, page 45 were directed to
Kevin Whaley on January 7, 2016. Ms. Thomas testifihat she had not reported the text
messages attached to the January 26, 2014 emtiks tahe they were received.

Ms. Thomas was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pa@@a&rt of an interview of Ms. Thomas

that occurred on January 7, 2016 by investigataiiK&/haley that presents the following:

Whaley: How threatened do you feel? Like, do ycel fee would do anything to

10



you?

Thomas: | would like to say “no” but | don’t know what point his triggers are

gonna be that sends him over the edge. When Idatkehe people at the city

prosecutor’s office today they were like, “Wow, lines a lot of stuff.” | mean, he’s

a former — not that this makes a difference or thit makes people like this but

he’s a former marine — a sergeant in the Maringp€dfle — and | don't think he is

active on STAR anymore. | don’t know that for atfaause that’'s what Rick and

| were talking about. Might not be. He might bedtinge or — ‘cause | know at one

point he had back problems. He obviously has wea@rhome ‘cause he’s a

hunter too. He hunts avidly and — but as far asdoming to my house, he’s not

done that yet. He just makes threats to do stuthere’s been times where he’s

said, “Well, I'm coming over to your house. I'm ganbash the door in.” So...

Ms. Thomas was asked whether she had felt threadtiey the text messages attached to
the January, 2014 emails and Ms. Thomas had satdstte had been scared but had not felt
threatened at that time. Ms. Thomas confirmed ttiate had been no threats from Mr. Rausch
since the issuance of the January 19, 2016 cigtlegtion order.

Ms. Thomas stated that she had had no reason @évadhtwith her ex-husband
professionally but said she feared that the sinatvas turning into something worse that could
affect her job and her job performance. Ms. Thomas asked if she continues to feel threatened
at the time of her testimony in this proceedingwtoch Ms. Thomas answered: “No.”

Ms. Thomas was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pagéh@6 presents text messages that begin
with Ms. Thomas texting: “We out at a movie .. vii# call in the morning,” followed by the text:
“Listen I'm not sure what'’s got into you but I’'m tieally in the mood for you! FU.” “Ha ha!! Me
too!! So go to child support and get me off arreafavis. Thomas denied in her testimony that
she had used the term “FU.”

Ms. Thomas was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pageha8 includes the text message line:

“Night asshole.” Ms. Thomas does not recall hadagt this text message.

Under redirect questioning by the Employer’s repn¢ative Ms. Thomas testified that the

11



text messages appearing at Joint Exhibit 3, pagi&3include: “Die bitch” occurred after the
telephone message received on December 17, 2019.Hdmas testified that at the time of these
texts she had been in fear of Mr. Rausch.

Ms. Thomas testified that she married Rick Thonta®otober 10, 2015.

Kevin Whaley

Kevin Whaley has been employed by the State ob@dm twenty-one years and at the
time of his testimony in this proceeding was emptbgs a Labor Relations Officer 3 by the Ohio
Department of Job and Family Services. For a feargy®r. Whaley had served as a Juvenile
Correction Officer within the Ohio Department of b Services and from there moved to the
Adult Parole Authority where he served in an inigegtve unit.

Mr. Whaley served in a variety of positions withire Ohio Department of Rehabilitation
and Correction, with his last position with the dgment being a Program Administrator in the
Office of Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO). Mrhaley served within the Ohio Department
of Rehabilitation and Correction for fifteen years.

Mr. Whaley identified Joint Exhibit 3, page 19ths first page of an investigative report
dated February 2, 2016 prepared by Kevin WhaleyROIEEO Section directed to the Warden
of the Ohio Reformatory for Women, Ronette BurkBEsis first page of the investigative report
presents the subject of this investigation as KénRausch.

Mr. Whaley testified that the text messages presewithin Joint Exhibit 3, pages 45, 47,
48, 49, 50, 51, and 52 are from Mr. Rausch.

Mr. Whaley testified that the January 19, 2016il gorotection order brought to the
Employer’s attention the text messages betweerirlsmas and Mr. Rausch. Mr. Whaley stated

that the Employer had had no prior knowledge o$éhiext messages. Having been apprised of

12



what was communicated by Mr. Rausch to Ms. Thorivas,Whaley testified that the threats
against Ms. Thomas and her husband, two state gaggocould not be ignored.

Mr. Whaley testified that the text messages attJakhibit 3, page 53 begin with Ms.
Thomas’s text message at 9:18 p.m. on January ¥5: 2Quit txting me,” followed by Mr.
Rausch’s texts on that date directed to Ms. Thahatsegin with: “YOU WILL NOT FUCK ME

OVER EVER AGAIN!"" at 9:18 p.m.; “Die bitch,” at 99 p.m.; “Die bitch,” again at 9:19 p.m.;

Under questioning by the Union’s representative,\Whaley confirmed that Rick Thomas
is a Labor Relations Officer at the Departmentanktin Medical Center (FMC).

Mr. Whaley testified that the telephone messagdsiat Exhibit 3, page 45 include Mr.
Rausch’s text message directed to Ms. Thomas ¢aalsr “I promise you don’t know what I'm
capable of ..” was sent on or before January 28420

Mr. Whaley testified that text messages at Joihilkt 3, pages 47, 48, and 49 were
directed by Mr. Rausch to Ms. Thomas sometime atdanuary 24, 2014. Mr. Whaley confirmed
that these text messages from January, 2014 hdekratreported at the time they were received
by Ms. Thomas (then Ms. Rausch). Mr. Whaley testithat he thought the text messages in 2014
had been threatening to Ms. Thomas as they hadded|such messages as: “Bitch | hope you
fucking die, | fucking hate you. You are a worttsdgsece of shit.” This text message was sent at
2:13 a.m.

Mr. Whaley was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, page®page in the transcript of the interview
of Mr. Rausch by Mr. Whaley that occurred on Japu0, 2016, an interview that was also
attended by OCSEA Union Steward James Doss. AR2h@4 mark in this interview Mr. Doss

said: “Right. 'm not trying to imply that. I'm justrying to establish one-sideness of the text

13



messages.” Mr. Whaley is reported to have respanded

No, | realize that and there was something in bieeeven says — it's obvious that

she texted something else and deleted it and themean, it's obvious that’'s what

happened. I'm not saying that everything in hetkis-is a complete and accurate

picture of the whole conversation. | know it's nbinean, it's common sense.

At Joint Exhibit 3, page 64, at the 21:13 markhs January 20, 2016 interview of Mr.
Rausch by Mr. Whaley, Mr. Rausch is presented yagahe following:

Okay, well let me clarify this. | would just neveend anything out of the blue. |

got better things to do with my life than justtsiere and get mad and send shit to

her. It's when we’ve been communicating through &he makes me mad. She

does — she says something to set me off. I've neverdon’t — I'm not just

threatening her, harassing her, saying stuff forsbe’s triggered me.

Mr. Whaley was asked whether Ms. Thomas had semndiary text messages to Mr.
Rausch prompting some of the angrier texts seMiibyRausch. Mr. Whaley testified that he did
not think that Ms. Thomas had sent triggering ragssages to Mr. Rausch.

Mr. Whaley was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pagdr®m the interview of Michelle Thomas
by Mr. Whaley on January 7, 2016 at the 5:55 manknin Ms. Thomas had said:

Recently, | know what has sparked — delieve what has sparked it is obviously

me getting married to Rick. And then, Rick’s ex-eyiRmanda Moon and my ex-

husband talking believe at the reformatory. ‘Cause all he said is “she capand

asked me if | have copies of our custody agreerhent.

Mr. Whaley identified Joint Exhibit 3, page 30mesenting the conclusions reached based
on the investigation conducted by Mr. Whaley. Mrhadéy found Officer Rausch had violated
Standards of Employee Conduct rules by sendingitbnéng text messages to his ex-wife and to

her husband, Rick Thomas, both employees of theo @epartment of Rehabilitation and

Correction. Mr. Whaley referred to Joint Exhibitggge 106, page one of the Ohio Department of
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Rehabilitation and Correction’s Standards of Emp®yConduct. Joint Exhibit 3, page 108
presents page 5 of the Standards of Employee Coaddcstates under “lllegal Activities” that
the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correcti@mands that its employees be held to the
highest standards of conduct at all times, inclgdsersonal and business affairs. This policy
provides that illegal conduct on the part of anykaypee, whether on or off duty, is unacceptable.
This language also provides: “In the event the Exyga pursues disciplinary action against an
employee for such conduct, a reasonable nexuddtjep performance must be established.”

Mr. Whaley testified that some of the text messafgem Mr. Rausch directed to Ms.
Thomas were threatening. Mr. Whaley was asked wendtie telephone message received on
December 17, 2015 at 9:09 p.m. by Ms. Thomas framRdusch to Ms. Thomas’s state telephone
had included any threat of violence, to which Mhaléy responded that it had not. Mr. Whaley
also confirmed that no criminal charge was lodggdiresst Mr. Rausch and there had been no
charge of illegal activity under the civil protemi order secured by Ms. Thomas on January 19,

2016.

Ronette Burkes

Ronette Burkes is the Warden of the Ohio Refornydfir Women and has been serving
in this capacity since 2013. Warden Burkes teslifteat it is important that staff working at the
Ohio Reformatory for Women feel safe in their wddqe.

Warden Burkes testified that a substantial pesggnbdf inmates at the Ohio Reformatory
for Women have been the victims of domestic viokerBecause of the increased incidences of
trauma due to domestic violence among inmates etCthio Reformatory for Women, staff
members at this institution receive specializething so as to reduce as much as possible any

additional trauma to inmates while they serve ttexims of incarceration at this facility.
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Warden Burkes was referred to Joint Exhibit 3,088 wherein some of the text messages
from Mr. Rausch to Ms. Thomas included: “Die bitcWarden Burkes testified that these text
messages are not to be ignored even if they agoearmprivate account. Ms. Burkes testified that
domestic violence victims do not always reportdecits of domestic violence right away. Warden
Burkes explained that there is often a cycle oferioe that a perpetrator inflicts and a victim
rationalizes.

Warden Burkes testified that in a cycle of donwesiblence there is often power and
control behaviors that arise and progress to tha pd violence. Victims try to focus on the good
times that had occurred and perpetrators expressrse and promise to mend their ways. This
leads to the next cycle of violence and the sameham@sms formerly used to maintain the
dominance of the perpetrator and the submissiatefvictim. Warden Burkes testified that a
particularly dangerous time is when one of theipaiis preparing to leave.

Warden Burkes testified that she is unable torngtioe text messages from Mr. Rausch to
Ms. Thomas and testified that based on those tessages it was not appropriate to bring Mr.
Rausch back to work.

Under questioning by the Union’s representativayd&n Burkes identified Joint Exhibit
1, page 1 as the order of removal addressed toeleritausch. Warden Burkes confirmed that
the discharge was for violation of Standards of Exyge Conduct rule 5b for calling a state
telephone and making a threat in that call; ruldat8hreatening and intimidating text messages
that were left for Ms. Thomas by Mr. Rausch; rufef@ compromising the ability of other state
employees through threats to effectively carrytbatr duties as public employees, and rule 38 for
the threats from Mr. Rausch directed at two stadfbers, Mr. and Mrs. Thomas that threatened

the security of the facility in which each worked this case the Ohio Reformatory for Women,
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the Operations Support Center, and the Franklinids¢&enter.

Warden Burkes testified that the discharge of Rlusch from his employment by the
State of Ohio was reasonable and commensuratelhvatmisconduct engaged in by Mr. Rausch.
Warden Burkes confirmed that the rules which akegald to have been violated provide for a
range of discipline to be imposed and Warden Buckedirmed that she is the person who decided
that discharge was an appropriate disciplinaryaese to the facts of this case. Warden Burkes
stated that the behavior engaged in by Mr. Rausak 80 egregious that removal became
appropriate.

Warden Burkes confirmed that Mr. Rausch servetherSRT (Special Response Team),
a unit that is analogous to a SWAT team. Warderk&ustated that she never observed problems
in Mr. Rausch’s conduct at the Ohio ReformatoryMéwmen but she testified that it is impossible
to predict future behavior. Warden Burkes stated therbal threats of bodily harm are part of
domestic violence.

Warden Burkes was referred to Joint Exhibit 3,488, page 5 of the Standards of
Employee Conduct of the Ohio Department of Rehaliin and Correction which includes the
following language: “In the event the Employer s disciplinary action against an employee
for such conduct, a reasonable nexus (tie) to grfibppmance must be established.” Warden Burkes
testified that the voice mail message left by MauBch on a state telephone for Ms. Thomas and
the text messages that Mr. Rausch directed to kiemas were connected to the job performance
of Ms. Thomas at the Ohio Department of Rehabititeand Correction and Mr. Rausch’s conduct
in relation to the state telephone message andrtegsages may be considered in determining a

disciplinary response to the misconduct engagdyy illr. Rausch.

17



Leontyne Chrystal Pounds-Alexander

Leontyne Chrystal Pounds-Alexander is an admattistrof the Office of Victims’ Services
within the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation andr@otion. Ms. Pounds-Alexander oversees
programming that assists victims of crime. Ms. RimiAlexander has been working among
victims of domestic violence for twenty years. Naunds-Alexander has talked to hundreds of
victims of domestic violence.

Ms. Pounds-Alexander testified that she had talikedlichelle Thomas. Ms. Pounds-
Alexander said that domestic violence does sp#ranto the workplace. Ms. Pounds-Alexander
identified Employer's Exhibit 1 as information oltad from the Ohio Domestic Violence
Network that presents a definition of abuse theluitles verbal insults, emotional abuse, financial
deprivation, threats and/or sexual and physicdenice as a way to dominate a partner. Examples
of abusive behavior appearing on this listing ideluiname calling, threatening to hurt or Kill,
degrading women in general, apologizing and mafaisge promises to end the abuse, ridiculing,
criticizing, blaming, accusing of affairs, and stgng work or school.

Ms. Pounds-Alexander identified Employer's Exhil#t as a Danger Assessment
memorandum from Jacquelyn C. Campbell, Ph.D., RHs memorandum presents risk factors
that include: Does he own a gun?; Does he threatkifl you?; Has he ever threatened or tried to
commit suicide?

Ms. Pounds-Alexander was referred to text messages Mr. Rausch directed to Ms.
Thomas appearing at Joint Exhibit 3, pages 4548749, 50, 51, and 52. Ms. Pounds-Alexander
found the text message: “I promise you don’t knolatwl’'m capable of” to be threatening and
testified that these and other comments appearitext messages from Mr. Rausch should not be

ignored even though some of them occurred in 20B4Pounds-Alexander testified that the voice
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mail message left on Ms. Thomas'’s state telephonexember 17, 2015 should not be ignored
nor should other text messages appearing on theeahted pages. Ms. Pounds-Alexander
reiterated that domestic violence can spill ovés the workplace.

Under questioning by the Union’s representative, Mounds-Alexander could not recall
when she had spoken directly to Ms. Thomas but deesl speaking to Ms. Thomas about the
possibility of securing a civil protection ordersMPounds-Alexander believes this conversation
occurred more than one year ago. Ms. Pounds-Alexahds been employed by the Ohio
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction foefixears and testified that the telephone message
left on December 17, 2015 by Mr. Rausch upon Marfi&s’s state telephone is an instance of

domestic violence spilling over into the workplace.

Kenneth Rausch

Kenneth Rausch, the grievant in this proceedirgs hired by the Ohio Department of
Rehabilitation and Correction on June 19, 2000.Réusch recalled that while he was serving as
a probationary employee in June, 2000 he madecapipln to serve on the Special Response Team
(SRT) and subsequently served on the SRT for sixsya unit that is analogous to a SWAT team.
Mr. Rausch also served on the Special Tactics aspdhse (STAR) team, a unit trained in hostage
rescue and high risk transportation. Mr. Rauschieskeight years on the STAR team but due to
back problems had had to retire from it.

Mr. Rausch testified that he received trainingritical incident management (CIM) and
testified that his performance evaluations whilgkyed at the Ohio Reformatory for Women
were excellent, always above average.

As to prior discipline, Mr. Rausch testified that one occasion he called off late and

received a warning for this late call.
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Mr. Rausch testified that he married Michelle RdwscFebruary, 2004 and they divorced
in May, 2013. Mr. Rausch testified that he had tauings wife lying and being unfaithful.

Mr. Rausch was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, pagefrbdn the transcript of a telephone
message recorded on Ms. Thomas’s work telephonBemember 17, 2015 at 9:09 p.m. Mr.
Rausch testified that these were his words andaderécorded them because under the custody
agreement that applied to Ms. Thomas and Mr. Raukelr son was to telephone Mr. Rausch
before going to bed in the evening. Mr. Rauschiftedtthat he had been adamant about this daily
communication with his son and recalled that on twthree occasions no call from his son had
been received, a breach subsequently explainedrtdRBusch as having been caused by Mr.
Rausch’s son falling asleep before making the kedap call. Mr. Rausch testified that he found it
difficult to understand why the telephone call thais required under the court-approved custody
agreement was not occurring as agreed. Mr. Raestified that his son’s bedtime at the time the
telephone message was left on December 17, 201Bbd®ad8:30 p.m.

Mr. Rausch testified that lack of nighttime calterh his son pushed Mr. Rausch to the
boiling point. Mr. Rausch’s heightened temper weasntaggravated by his calls to his ex-wife that
were being blocked, leaving Mr. Rausch unable tdiom that his son was safe.

Mr. Rausch testified that his ex-wife had threatettemove to Mansfield, Ohio and take
Mr. Rausch’s son with her. Mr. Rausch testified tha voice mail message left on December 17,
2015 had been Mr. Rausch’s attempt to get the @airdss to Ms. Thomas that Mr. Rausch was
to talk to his son every day. Mr. Rausch stated thare was nothing threatening about this
message; it had been an angry, direct communicatinnerning the nighttime calls from his son
to which Mr. Rausch had been entitled under theteapproved custody agreement.

As to why Mr. Rausch had left the voice mail messag a state telephone, Mr. Rausch
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was referred to Joint Exhibit 3, page 56 at thé®Sn&rk of the interview of Mr. Rausch by Mr.
Whaley that had occurred on January 20, 2016.iafbint in the interview Mr. Rausch had said:

Well, you have read — you’re aware of the verbiagéere? He’s, by court order -

by our custody agreement, he’s supposed to talknéoevery night within a

reasonable time. | supposed to call him withinasomable time. He’s eight-years-

old. To me, a reasonable time is 8 to 8:30. Andishzeen discussed verbally that

if he doesn’t call me before 8:30 then | call theveell, she told — she never

answered her phone and | couldn’t get ahold of Apparently she had turned her

phone off or it was completely dead. | tried td b&r home phone, left a message.

He never — my son never called me back. So, hlgfticemail on her work phone.

As to calling the mother of his son a “piece-oitglarent” in the December 17, 2015 voice
mail message, Mr. Rausch testified at the hearemgih that Ms. Thomas is a good mother to their

son, describing her as a very good mother.

As to the text messages that are presented atEldnibit 3, pages 51 and 52 that include

husband is getting his feelings hurt because henigger then maybe he should confront me!!lf
he is a tough guy then he should see me in persémRausch testified at the hearing herein that
he believes he sent the above-referenced textsret 8me in December, 2015 and January, 2016.

When asked why he sent the message at Joint Exyipage 52 and left the voice mall
message found at Joint Exhibit 3, page 54, Mr. Rasgsated that they were all sent for the same
reason. The text messages presented at Joint ERhfage 51 that included “Die bitch” were all
sent on the same day.

Mr. Rausch testified that the text message “Diehidoes not constitute a threat and
although it was an ignorant thing to communicate, Rausch testified that he had been so
aggravated that he had become too emotional amefdine directed these text messages to Ms.

Thomas. Mr. Rausch now understands that it was gvtoilo so and testified that he would never
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do so again.

Mr. Rausch testified that the text message thigrnedd to Ms. Thomas’s husband as a
“nigger,” presented at Joint Exhibit 3, page 52swat a text message sent on the same day the
text messages presented on Joint Exhibit 3, paglead®had included “Die bitch” had been sent.

The text messages that were attached to ematlsypipgar in the hearing record as Joint
Exhibit 3, pages 45 — 49 were text messages seithi@r 2013 or 2014. Mr. Rausch testified that
there were texts from Ms. Thomas sent to Mr. Radlsahare missing from these messages and
Mr. Rausch testified that Ms. Thomas had eggeddmnimnd had got him emotionally overwrought.

Mr. Rausch testified that since January, 2016rtkhes ex-wife, Ms. Thomas, have had a
good relationship and there have been no confions&atMr. Rausch referred to Joint Exhibit 3,
page 59 at the 10:40 mark within the interview of Rausch by Mr. Whaley conducted on January
20, 2016 wherein Mr. Rausch is reported to have: Sai And she knows these little triggers —
she knows — I'm not gonna lie; | do have a temptake no bones about that...”

Mr. Rausch denies that his job performance orjdbeperformance of Ms. Thomas had
been affected by his voice mail message or texsages. Mr. Rausch testified that he followed
the civil protection order secured by Ms. Thomaslanuary 19, 2016 and has never traveled to
the Department’s central office where his ex-wiferks.

Under questioning by the Employer’s representatite Rausch testified that he does not
deny sending the text messages. Mr. Rausch confiratshe sent some of text messages but is
unable to recall sending all of them.

Mr. Rausch testified that at no time did he malpdygsical threat against Ms. Thomas.

Under redirect examination by the Union’s représve, Mr. Rausch testified that no

physical violence or threat of violence had beeaded by Mr. Rausch at Ms. Thomas, although
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at the time of his testimony in this proceeding Rausch admitted he now understands how his
behavior could have been interpreted as threateMngRausch testified that when he texted: “I
promise you don’'t know what I'm capable of ..” haswreferring to legal action and was not
making a physical threat against Ms. Thomas.

As to the text: “Die bitch,” Mr. Rausch now undersds how this could have been
understood to be a threat but testified that heinewuld have acted violently toward Ms. Thomas.
Mr. Rausch testified that although the text mesdagks threatening, it was not meant to be
threatening.

Under re-cross examination by the Employer’s repméative, Mr. Rausch testified that he
does not believe his conduct comprises domestiene although he admits that his behavior

was wrong, something he now sincerely regrets.

David Addair

David Addair is a first shift Correctional Officat the Ohio Reformatory for Women who
has worked there for eighteen years. Mr. Addairkmasvn Mr. Rausch since their hire; they have
become friends and have worked together often. Addair described Mr. Rausch as a good
worker who did a good job, a good guy with goodrahter. Mr. Addair stated that he had not
seen Mr. Rausch lose his temper or threaten anyoepress racial slurs.

Mr. Addair testified that Mr. Rausch had discuskeddivorce from his ex-wife and Mr.
Addair knows Ms. Thomas. Mr. Addair testified thét. Rausch had always acted professionally
at the Ohio Reformatory for Women.

Mr. Addair was referred to the December 17, 20disermail message left by Mr. Rausch
for Ms. Thomas. Mr. Addair testified that while foeind the voice mail message inappropriate for

a state telephone, he did not find the messagaténiag.
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As to the text messages that appear in Joint Exilpages 45 — 53, Mr. Addair testified
that these text messages are not typical of howRdusch had talked to people and Mr. Addair
believes that these text messages were obviousistrtted at a time when Mr. Rausch was

experiencing high emotion.

Corey Cunningham

Corey Cunningham is a first shift yard Correctio@dficer who has worked with Mr.
Rausch at the Ohio Reformatory for Women for oesesteen years. Mr. Cunningham described
Mr. Rausch as a good employee, a hard worker, ams$@ectful colleague. Mr. Cunningham
described Mr. Rausch as a good friend and Mr. Gwgir@m had not seen Mr. Rausch lose his
temper or engage in racial slurs. Mr. Cunninghastifted that Mr. Rausch was not insensitive to
others and described Mr. Rausch as a co-workerwdnked in a professional manner.

As to the voice mail message left by Mr. RausehMs. Thomas on December 17, 2015
Mr. Cunningham agreed that it was an inapproprniagssage for a state telephone system but Mr.
Cunningham did not find the message to be threageni

Mr. Cunningham testified that the text messagesctkd to Ms. Thomas by Mr. Rausch
that appear in Joint Exhibit 3 are messages thatbeaunderstood to give offense but Mr.
Cunningham testified that it was not like Mr. Raugo treat other people in this manner. Mr.

Cunningham testified that he is not aware of Mugth harming Ms. Thomas.

[The remainder of this page is blank.]
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POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

Position of the State of Ohio, Department of Relitakiopn and Correction,
Ohio Reformatory for Women, Employer

The Employer, the State of Ohio, Department of &dhation and Correction, Ohio
Reformatory for Women understands the issue ingitdseeding to be whether the Employer had
just cause to discharge the grievant from his eympént. The Employer contends that the main
facts underlying this proceeding are not disputed.

The Employer notes that in 2014 and 2015 the griegent violent text messages to his
ex-wife, Michelle Thomas, an employee of the OhagpBrtment of Rehabilitation and Correction.
These text messages included threats of physical, lsuicide, racial epithets, remarks intended
to degrade Ms. Thomas (“whore”) and threatened ipalyearm to Ms. Thomas’s husband, Rick
Thomas. The Employer points out that the fact thase texts were directed to Ms. Thomas by
Mr. Rausch is not disputed by Mr. Rausch, a fasd abnfirmed by Ms. Thomas. The Employer
confirms the text messages were sent through atpraccount.

On December 17, 2015 Correctional Officer Kenrieélusch left a derogatory voice mail
message on the state telephone assigned to Michetlemas in her position as a Correction
Records Management Officer at the Operations Suppenter of the Ohio Department of
Rehabilitation and Correction. Ms. Thomas did mommiediately report this voice mail message
but did report the voice mail message when sheuetdé¢he text messages from Mr. Rausch that

included: “YOU WILL NOT FUCK ME OVER EVER AGAIN!!,"“Die bitch,” “Die bitch,” and

The Employer argues that earlier text messagadygevir. Rausch to Ms. Thomas cannot

be ignored for to do so would constitute an indéfece to the safety of departmental employees.
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The Employer argues that the violent text messagddhe voice mail message left on Ms.
Thomas’s state telephone brought the threats ofedtviolence perpetrated by Mr. Rausch
against Ms. Thomas from the private sphere to thidip domain by bringing it to the Ohio
Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, Msoiftas’s workplace.

The Employer points out that the grievant had athing through the Corrections
Training Academy and yearly in-service trainingtthecluded victims’ issues. The Employer
contends that the grievant’s training made himyfallvare of the fact that his actions in sending
the violent and derogatory text messages and thee voail message of December 17, 2015
comprised violations of Standards of Employee Caohdules.

The Employer points to two cases in 2017 whereipleyees of the Ohio Department of
Rehabilitation and Correction had been murderest afch victim had filed a complaint about a
significant other. One of these victims was murddrg a fellow correctional officer employed by
the Department. The Employer points out that timeseders are not hypothetical - each occurred
after threats of bodily harm had been made towhedvictims and these circumstances were
known the Employer when the Employer was presemtddnuary, 2016 with the December 17,
2015 voice mail message and text messages sehelgrievant in 2014, 2015, and 2016. At the
time the Employer was made aware of the Decembge2Q¥5 voice mail message and text
messages directed by Mr. Rausch to Ms. Thomagti@oyer understood the situation between
Mr. Rausch and Ms. Thomas to be escalating anddimg into the workplace.

The Employer argues that the hearing record aosmtai preponderance of evidence
showing the grievant to have violated rule 5b ef 8tandards of Employee Conduct for engaging
in purposeful or careless acts which result inammore of the following: damage, loss, or misuse

of property of the State to include but not limitedsehicles and telephones. The Employer notes
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that the grievant does not deny leaving the DecerhBe2015 voice mail message on the state
telephone assigned to Ms. Thomas. This messagedeat! “You are a complete piece of shit

parent to my son, Joe, you are violating all kinfiBicking custody agreements...” The Employer
contends that leaving this type of message onta tkephone is a misuse of state property.

As to rule 18 of the Standards of Employee Condhotatening, intimidating, or coercing
another employee or member of the general pultiee Bmployer argues that the text messages
Mr. Rausch admits to sending to Ms. Thomas showtiteatening nature of these messages,
“Die bitch.” Sending a message that includes: imise you don’t know what | am capable of ..”
and “Bitch | hope you fucking die, | hate you. Yare a worthless piece of shit,” are threatening,
intimidating, and comprise a violation of rule 18tlee Standards of Employee Conduct.

The Employer emphasizes that many of the text agessfrom the grievant threaten death
or serious bodily harm to Ms. Thomas and her husbRick Thomas. The Employer points out
that these text messages were specific as to waminiended by Mr. Rausch and at whom his ire
was being directed.

As to rule 37 of the Standards of Employee Condarcy act or failure to act that could
compromise or impair the ability of an employeeti@ctively carry out his/her duties as a public
employee, the Employer claims that the text messigen Mr. Rausch to Ms. Thomas containing
racial slurs would impair the ability of an empley® effectively carry out his or her duties as a
public employee.

The Employer points out that text messages fromR4usch to Ms. Thomas were clear
about Mr. Rausch’s willingness and capability tbiéh harm on Ms. Thomas and her husband.
The Employer argues that Mr. Rausch’s conductismrdggard violated rule 37.

As to rule 38 of the Standards of Employee Condanly act or failure to act, or
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commission not otherwise set forth herein whichstitutes a threat to the security of the facility,
staff, any individual under the supervision of epartment, or a member of the general public,
the Employer points out that the grievant cleaniyeatened Michelle Thomas and her husband,
both of whom were and remain employees of the Qbépartment of Rehabilitation and
Correction. The Employer argues that the grievaose to insert into the workplace these antics.
The Employer argues that the threats made by Mus&aagainst Michelle Thomas and Rick
Thomas could not help but interfere in the secwitthe facility, staff, and other individuals umde
the supervision of the Department.

As to the testimony provided by Ms. Thomas, thepyer notes that the civil protection
order secured by Ms. Thomas is still active, anskicuring this protection order Ms. Thomas had
signed a petition that stated: “| am concernedgrsafety...”

The Employer points out that Ms. Thomas in hetirtemny at the arbitration hearing herein
identified the text messages she received fromeRkdrusband, Mr. Rausch, and identified the
December 17, 2015 voice mail message recordedrostdte telephone by Mr. Rausch.

When asked why she had not reported the Decenih@015 voice mail message or other
text messages until January 6, 2016, Ms. Thomakierd that when she began receiving text
messages from Mr. Rausch that included: “Die bitahd referred to her husband as a “nigger”
Ms. Thomas came to believe that the situation vgaslating and needed to be reported. In this
regard Ms. Thomas identified the incident repod phepared and signed on January 6, 2016 that
is found at Joint Exhibit 3, page 31.

The Employer recalls the testimony from Kevin Wdyalvho led the investigation into the
voice mail message and text messages sent by MecRdo Ms. Thomas. The Employer points

out that Mr. Whaley was able to substantiate thecof the voice mail and text messages as
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Kenneth Rausch. Mr. Whaley testified that the gaigvhad admitted to being the source of these
communications.

The Employer refers to the testimony of Warden ét@n Burkes who recalled her
extensive training and experience in dealing withims’ issues arising from workplace violence.
Warden Burkes emphasized that the Ohio Reform&borywomen provides additional training to
staff in an effort to ensure that the work envir@mtat the Ohio Reformatory for Women is free
from sexual harassment, bullying, and workplacéevice.

Warden Burkes testified that once issues invohdogestic violence have been brought
into the workplace it would not be appropriatetfoe Employer to ignore this circumstance. This
testimony was corroborated by Mr. Whaley and Maurféis-Alexander.

The Employer emphasizes that the threateningnidéting, and derogatory text messages
and voice mail message directed to Ms. Thomas hyRdusch were not a one-time occurrence
but elements of a pattern of abuse that continwed several years. The Employer contends that
the grievant attempted to use threats and intinmdab control Ms. Thomas, and when it spilled
over into the workplace Ms. Thomas had finally eadugh and reported it to her employer.

The Employer acknowledges that at the arbitrakiearing Mr. Rausch testified that he
would never again engage in these kinds of actsxandunderstands he had been mistaken when
he had engaged in such behavior. The Employer doesiew these promises as credible and
points out that such promises of future good bedraasie often found within a cycle of violence
commonly encountered in instances of domestic na#e

The Employer points out that the grievant nowrakahe will not abuse Ms. Thomas or her
husband in the future after spending years doigtéxthat. The grievant claims that although he

used the word “nigger” on several occasions intéws$ messages directed to Ms. Thomas about
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her husband, he is not a racist. The Employer argjoa what is most significant is that the
grievant, through his testimony, shows that he dagdully comprehend the seriousness of his
misconduct.

The Employer acknowledges that both David Addad @orey Cunningham vouched for
the hard work provided by Mr. Rausch and theimiighip with Mr. Rausch.

The Employer emphasizes that it has an affirmatiugey to provide a safe working
environment for its employees and when the griegant text messages with threats of serious
bodily harm, suicide, and bodily harm to othersgheation had escalated into the workplace and
the Employer had had to take these circumstancesisky.

The Employer notes that after the grievant's adtiovere evaluated by experts, the
Employer decided to remove the grievant from higr@&@wdional Officer position at the Ohio
Reformatory for Women for the reasons stated abdke. Employer declares that it refuses to
gamble with the lives of its employees, especialtyid warning signs of domestic violence. The
Employer believes that to ignore the grievant’scans in this case would be unethical and illegal.

For the reasons cited above, the Employer urgearthitrator to find that a preponderance
of evidence has been presented to the hearingdrestablishing just cause for the removal of the
grievant and deny the grievance in its entirety.

Position of the Ohio Civil Service Employees Asstion, American Federation of State, County
and Municipal Employees, Local 11, AFL-CIdnion

The Union, the Ohio Civil Service Employees Asation, American Federation of State,
County and Municipal Employees, Local 11, AFL-Cl®tes that the grievant, Kenneth Rausch,
was removed from his position as a Correctionald®ffat the Ohio Reformatory for Women on

May 6, 2016. At the time of his removal Mr. Rausdds a sixteen-year decorated employee of the
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Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correctiothwio prior discipline other than a written
reprimand for an attendance related issue thatarothe prior year. The Union states that Mr.
Rausch was well-liked by his fellow employees aespected by his superior officers and by
inmates. The Union notes the grievant was nonetbealescharged for a first offense associated
with an alleged violation of the Department’s Stami$ of Employee Conduct - rules 5b, 18, 37,
and 38. The Union argues that the discipline impasehis case was effected without just cause.

The Union argues that the Employer failed to felloequirements associated with
progressive discipline and contends that the Engplesfacked charges against the grievant,
attributing violations to four separate rules bagsedhe same voice mail and text messages. The
Union argues that the stacking of charges on theesaonduct was done to justify the removal of
the grievant.

The Union points out that Warden Burkes testiiéthe arbitration hearing that discipline
should be corrective in nature but nonethelessechmsmpose upon the grievant the harshest
discipline allowed. The Union notes that the Warldad had available to her a range of discipline
for a first offense from which to determine theatjline to be imposed. It is contended that
Warden Burkes chose to remove the grievant for sange with which the grievant was never
explicitly accused — domestic violence, a chargemade against the grievant and a charge the
grievant had had no previous opportunity to rebut.

The Union points out that Ms. Thomas has at ne thaimed that Mr. Rausch physically
attacked her and made no such claim at the atbitrétaring herein. The Union questions the
Employer’s exhibits as they are not connected torasearch identified as underlying Employer
Exhibits 1 or 2. The Union also questions whetht#ree document is a departmental form or

simply memoranda favored by Ms. Pounds-Alexander.
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The Union claims that Mr. Rausch’s behavior avenan the hearing record has not been
substantiated as domestic violence and therefaesepts behavior that can be corrected. Ms.
Thomas confirmed in her testimony that since teeasce of the civil protection order on January
19, 2016 there has been no harassing text messag#éser problems caused by the grievant. Ms.
Thomas testified at the hearing that at the timleenftestimony she no longer feared the grievant.
Ms. Thomas testified that at the time of her testignin this proceeding she did not fear the
grievant in relation to her son’s safety.

The Union notes that Mr. Rausch testified of bigret for the text messages he had sent to
Ms. Thomas and explained the reasons underlyingehding of these texts and the voice mail
message, agreeing that it had been wrong to semd. thlr. Rausch also testified that he would
never engage in anything like this again.

The Union contends that the Warden ignored thevgnt's very fine work record, a
mitigating factor that should have been considémedktermining whether just cause existed for
Mr. Rausch’s discharge.

The Union claims that the evidence gathered by Whaley was one-sided, with Mr.
Whaley confirming that the messages directed by ®mas to Mr. Rausch had been deleted
among some of the text messages. The Union cldiaighis is the reason that some of the text
messages do not make sense on their face as mesedbint Exhibit 3. In this regard the Union
points to Joint Exhibit 3, page 45 which presentsxa message chain from Mr. Rausch that tells
Ms. Thomas to: “Back off...” then “NOW” which is fowed by another text from Mr. Rausch
that states: “No bitch you back off” and “Is thaivh you were raised, never to trust anyone
including family??” The Union claims that text mages at Joint Exhibit 3, pages 47 and 48

present similar progressions that appear nonseéraken at face value. The Union argues that
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context is what is missing from Mr. Whaley’s inuvgation and the Union claims this lack of
context fails to present an accurate or fair déggiocdbf what was being communicated. The Union
argues that the lack of context shows the Emplbger failed to satisfy its burden of proof by
failing to show that Mr. Rausch communicated in Wey he did without provocation by Ms.
Thomas. The Union claims that the investigation by Whaley could have filled in this
investigative gap but the records needed to clpdhis point were never sought.

The Union refers to the testimony of Mr. Rausclowtaimed that he had been threatened
repeatedly by Ms. Thomas through text messagedsiding threats to move with their son to the
city of Mansfield, Ohio, thereby making it morefditilt for Mr. Rausch to see his son. Mr. Rausch
testified of the frustration he experienced assaltef these threats and testified of his behet t
Ms. Thomas was not living up to the mandates df thestody agreement.

The Union refers to the voice mail message lefbenember 17, 2015 that was prompted
by that part of the custody agreement that caldvio Rausch’s son to telephone Mr. Rausch
every night before bedtime. Mr. Rausch testifieat tls. Thomas would repeatedly “forget” to
have their son telephone Mr. Rausch and then waudhin unreachable. The Union points out
that this was the circumstance underlying the Déxsgrh7, 2015 voice mail message transcribed
at Joint Exhibit 3, page 54 wherein Mr. Rauschrrefiéto Ms. Thomas as violating “... all kinds
of fucking custody agreements that we have. Heppgsed to talk to me every freaking night.”
The Union argues that this is not presented to ®x¢hie inappropriate nature of Mr. Rausch’s
December 17, 2015 voice mail message but to suimtarthe purposeful excision of Ms.
Thomas’s text messages that reveal her role iretimegdents.

The Union also questions the timeliness of thegallions. The Union notes that the date

of the incident for five of the seven text messelgains could not be determined by any witness
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at the arbitration hearing. The hearing recordetfl that a number of these text messages were
attached to an email dated January 26, 2014, mg#mah the attached text messages were at least
two years old at the time of the investigation amtdd by Mr. Whaley.

The Union points out that since the date of eadidéent could not be established the
grievant and the Union had no means of rebuttiegctrarge. The Union questions how far back
the Employer should be permitted to go to provegésthat were brought against Mr. Rausch in
2016. The Union reminds the arbitrator that allhefse text messages were personal in nature and
occurred between personal cellular telephones.Urien contends that this does not support a
finding of just cause and reflects why the StanslafdEmployee Conduct place an emphasis on
current work performance.

The Union also questions why Ms. Thomas savecktteed messages for as long as two
years although she failed to report them at the #ach message was received. The Union recalls
Ms. Thomas'’s testimony about having been scareel Urhion claims that such an assertion would
serve to increase the likelihood that the text mgss would have been reported when they
occurred.

The Union emphasizes that the text messagesuatiisshis proceeding are, in many cases,
the very same text messages that were reportedmary 26, 2014. While the grievant did send
a “Die bitch” text message to Ms. Thomas in 20b&, Wnion claims that it has established that
there was no escalation of misbehavior by Mr. Raasd also claims that a pattern of misbehavior
has not been established. In this regard the Unaias that the text messages attached to the
January 26, 2014 emails did not come up again th@iDecember 17, 2015 voice mail message.
The Union claims that for two years there was ndewe of threatening or intimidating behavior.

The Union claims that the Employer has not provigembf of recurring misbehavior but rather
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has proven isolated incidents of frustration expedgy Mr. Rausch about his parental rights not
being respected.

The Union claims the Employer has failed to prevédpreponderance of evidence showing
how the actions of Mr. Rausch would compromisengpdir his ability to carry out his duties as
alleged under rule 37 of the Standards of Empl&@@educt. The hearing record reflects that Ms.
Thomas and Mr. Rausch would have had no reasoanmneinicate with each other while each
was on duty nor to be in the same place while aagrgut their respective job assignments. Mr.
Rausch was asked at the arbitration hearing hoanadver the past sixteen years he had found
himself at the Department’s central offices; MruBeh responded: “Zero.”

The Union claims that some of the text messages ir. Rausch to Ms. Thomas were
regrettable and derogatory but they were not unlgwahd the Union claims there is no indication
from the Employer or from any criminal law enforcemh agency that Mr. Rausch had been
accused of breaking the law. The Union claims te&s no unlawful act and also claims there is
no nexus between the conduct of Mr. Rausch on déisopal text messaging account and the
workplace. The text messages were of a personateyagent on personal cellular telephones
within a complicated relationship. These interawdiargues the Union had nothing to do with the
Department and in no way impacted the work of tepdtment.

The December 17, 2015 voice mail message, howekecreate a nexus as it was recorded
on a state telephone assigned to Ms. Thomas. Wgtgequipment for personal reasons is wrong.
However, the Union points out that the voice maksage left on December 17, 2015 on the state
telephone assigned to Ms. Thomas was differertsinature from the text messages sent by Mr.
Rausch. Ms. Thomas pointed out in her testimorthatarbitration hearing that she had not felt

the need to report the voice mail message at the she listened to it on December 18, 2015
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because this voice mail message did not contagathiof physical harm. The Union claims that
the voice mail message may have been inapprodoatie workplace but it does not provide
sufficient grounds for the removal of a sixteensye@ployee.

The Union claims that it has proven the Employidrribt possess just cause to discharge
the grievant. Mr. Rausch had provided sixteen yebssrvice to the Department at the time of his
removal and coworkers Cunningham and Addair testif Mr. Rausch’s hard work, respectful
conduct, and friendship. The Union reminds theteator that Warden Burkes knew of no negative
conduct on the part of Mr. Rausch while on dutthatOhio Reformatory for Women.

The Union contends that it is Mr. Rausch’s pas$wrand commitment to parenting his
son that drove him to send the text messages texhmgfe. The Union argues that the Employer
has been unable to provide dates for many of tteedemessages; there were substantive issues
that arose from the conduct of the investigatiaoulgh the excision of text messages from Ms.
Thomas to Mr. Rausch; a lack of adequate noticepn@asded to the grievant to the effect that his
personal life could be the basis for disciplinee Hibsence of proof that this is a case of domestic
violence is also apparent and deserving of weight.

The Union argues that the most egregious oversighhis case is the absence of
progressive discipline being imposed. The Uniorearthe arbitrator to grant substantial weight
to the grievant's work record and length of servias had been done by other arbitrators
addressing workplace violence cases. The Unioriseba arbitration case wherein the grievant,
Jeffrey Hubbard, had allegedly threatened Goveltasich on a Facebook page. Arbitrator Pincus
in his Opinion and Award issued March 6, 2013,\gairece number 27-11-2011201-0010-01-03,
determined: “The grievant, despite his military armirection experience, was not disposed to

violence. The Grievant, moreover, had a good peréoice record with no active discipline. These
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mitigating factors serve as a basis for modificatd the imposed penalty.” The Union notes that
the comment used by the grievant in that case &ad: 'Ok we got Bin-Laden ... let's go get
Kasich next. Who's with me?” Arbitrator Pincus falthese to be nothing more than “empty
words.” Arbitrator Pincus held that: “A statemergcbmes a threat if certain conditions exist.
Words, themselves do not establish a threatennegroistance. They must be evaluated in terms
of context, the way the words are used and theistances existing at the time.”

Citing a separate case involving grievant Edma@méoine, the grievant was accused of
saying to a co-worker at the workplace: “You be#tip fucking with me or you’re going to be
sorry,” and the accuser wrote that the grievantir€atened me repeatedly, saying over and over,
just one more time ... just one more time.” Thedsnnotes that arbitrator Washington in his in
his Decision and Award issued June 3, 2004, griewamumber 23-18-030808-0070-01-04,
returned the grievant to work finding: “The evidens nonconclusive to support a finding or
inference that a specific threat occurred...” Adiiir Washington held: “Moreover did Antione
have the power to carry out the inferred threatdaimage Leugers’ possessions or person? ... no
evidence exists to suggest that Antione had theeptavdirect clients and/or others to physically
harm Leugers or cause property damage to Leugessgssions.” The Union argues that there are
parallels to the case herein, in both of the paidnitration cases cited above. The Union argues
that the Employer failed to show how Mr. Rauschésag were a clear threat of harm to the person
or possessions of Ms. Thomas. While Mr. Rausché&kdpaund has been in the military and in
corrections, no evidence in the hearing recordcetéis that such a background predisposes
someone to violence. The Union argues that there evidence to the effect that Mr. Rausch was
capable of carrying out a threat.

In both of the prior arbitration cases cited ahdiie employees’ work records could not
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be ignored and in each case the arbitrator ordéeeckinstatement of the grievant.

The Union states that the obvious difference adtbitration cases cited above and the
arbitration case addressed herein is the nexusetavorkplace in each case. In the case of Ms.
Antione, the latter case cited, the incident ocadifion the clock,” establishing a connection to the
workplace.

In the case of Mr. Hubbard, the earlier arbitraiited, the nexus was established through
a public social media platform where the grievaaswdentified as an employee of the State of
Ohio. The Union contends that in the case heranatbrkplace nexus connecting the grievant's
behavior to the workplace is less clear. The Urstates that the grievant left an inappropriate
voice mail message on a work telephone that provadaexus to the subject matter of the voice
mail message, but not to the text messages. ThenUxints out that the text messages were not
done in a public forum or a workplace forum. Thet tmessages were sent to personal cellular
telephone accounts. The Union claims that the riffee in this regard is significant. The Union
claims that this difference is sufficiently sigiéint to sustain the grievance in its entirety.

The Union urges the arbitrator to issue an ordieristating the grievant to his position as a
Correctional Officer at the Ohio Reformatory for ven; expunge from his personnel file any
mention of Mr. Rausch’s removal effective May 6180pay the grievant all lost wages reduced
by interim earnings and appropriate deductionsuding Union dues; pay the grievant for missed
overtime opportunities; bring leave balances tdekiel each would have been at had the discharge
not occurred, and make any missed payments to i Rublic Employees Retirement System
(OPERS). The Union asks that the arbitrator’s omd@ude a direction that no loss in seniority be
suffered by the grievant and order the paymenngfraedical, vision, or dental expense that the

grievant and his dependents have had to incur shecelate of the removal, May 6, 2016, that
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would have otherwise been covered by an insuralace p

The Union asks the arbitrator to retain jurisdiotover this case for sixty days.

DISCUSSION

The stipulated issue agreed by the parties to diermiined by the arbitrator in this
proceeding is whether the grievant was removed fimemployment with the State of Ohio for
just cause. The stipulated issue further askshenetvent just cause is not found to support the
removal of the grievant, what the remedy shall b@asto restore the grievant to the position he
would have been in, in terms of pay, benefits, @#yi, and leave accrual, had the removal not
occurred.

The collective bargaining agreement between thiéesa Joint Exhibit 1, in Article 5
reserves to the Employer the right to suspendhdige, and discipline bargaining unit members,
with these and other managerial rights enumeratéditicle 5 limited only by express and specific
written provisions in the parties’ Agreement.

An express and specific written provision in tlzetigs’ Agreement is Article 24, section
24.01 that limits the Employer’'s managerial rightimpose discipline upon a bargaining unit
member by requiring the Employer to possess justefor the imposition of discipline.

The action taken by the Employer that is the suibgé the grievance underlying this
arbitration proceeding occurred effective May 61@0the date of the termination of the
employment of the grievant by the Employer. Theetynwritten grievance filed on behalf of Mr.
Rausch challenging the discharge of the grieval$ @ato question whether just cause was
possessed by the Employer when this action wastake

What is_not an issue in this proceeding are ptiges as to the future conduct of the
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grievant as it relates to his ex-wife, Michelle Tis; as it relates to his ex-wife’s husband, Rick
Thomas; or as it relates to the Ohio DepartmerReatiabilitation and Correction and the Ohio
Reformatory for Women. The arbitrator is unableptedict with any confidence how any
individual, including the grievant herein, will aict the future. To premise a resolution of the
grievance herein on the arbitrator’s estimate @f boe grievant will comport himself in the future
is to ground the outcome in clairvoyance and atahysall.

The Employer’s action that has been grieved oeduon May 6, 2016 and that is the date
upon which what was known or what should have Bewwn by either or both parties is to be
determined in resolving the dispute between theégsanerein concerning the grievant’s discharge.
It is the conduct of the grievant prior to May ©15 and what the Employer knew on or prior to
May 6, 2016 that are the subjects of this procegdire subject matter that defines what is material
and relevant to the issues raised by this procgedin

Kenneth and Michelle Rausch were married in Fealyri2004 and they divorced in May,
2013. There is in the hearing record a numberxfrteessages from Mr. Rausch to his ex-wife
that were attached to two emails dated Januar@B4. The content of the text messages attached
to the two January 26, 2014 emails, text messages ¥r. Rausch to his ex-wife, included Mr.
Rausch declaring his hope that the mother of his would “fucking die” and Mr. Rausch
promising his ex-wife that she did not know what Rausch was capable of, calling his ex-wife
a “bitch” and “a worthless piece of shit.” Somelodse text messages also included a racial epithet,
the term “nigger.” The racial epithets used by Rausch referenced Rick Thomas who would
become Michelle Thomas’s husband in October, 2015.

There is a span of time in the hearing record du&s not present any text messages or

other messages between Mr. Rausch and Ms. Thorh&s.time period begins with the text
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messages attached to the two January 26, 2014seamailextends to the text messages from Mr.
Rausch directed to his ex-wife in December, 20kbJamuary, 2016. A voice mail message was
recorded on Ms. Thomas'’s state telephone by Mrs&awon December 17, 2015. Some of the
same content found in the 2013-2014 text messagesMr. Rausch to his ex-wife appear in the

voice mail message and the text messages from dMrséh directed to his ex-wife in December,

2015 and January, 2016.

The December 17, 2015 voice mail message refevdstorhomas as a “complete piece-
of-shit parent to my son” and accuses Ms. Thoma%iofating all kinds of fucking custody
agreements that we have.”

Text messages sent by Mr. Rausch to Ms. ThomBgo@mber, 2015 and January, 2016
included the command: “Die bitch” that appears anirt a text message chain, both at 9:19 p.m.
Mr. Rausch explained at the arbitration hearing tha second transmission of “Die bitch” had
not been intended but a mistaken transmissiontregdtom a texting error.

The grievant and the Union have argued in thisgeding that there were no threats of
harm directed at Ms. Thomas by Mr. Rausch in anheftext messages sent in December, 2015
and January, 2016 or in the voice mail messagededdy Mr. Rausch on December 17, 2015
on Ms. Thomas'’s state telephone. Mr. Rausch tedtidit the arbitration hearing herein that he
never intended to threaten his ex-wife throughténs messages or his December 17, 2015 voice
mail message but was simply venting his frustraibmhat he believed to be a purposeful and
exasperating refusal by his ex-wife to honor th&@dy agreement between them that called for a
telephone call to Mr. Rausch from his son everyneygbefore the son’s bedtime.

Everyone who reads the text messages from Mr. dRadisected to his ex-wife in 2013,

2014, December, 2015 and January, 2016 will remathe content of these messages and form a
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conclusion as to whether these messages are thiregtentimidating, or coercive. At the
arbitration hearing Mr. Rausch provided his intetation of the language he composed and sent
to his ex-wife and stated whether he had intentdede messages to be threatening, intimidating,
or coercive. Mr. Rausch’s opinions about the lagguae sent to Ms. Thomas and Mr. Rausch’s
assertions about his intentions in sending thessages were heard and considered but they do
not determine this issue.

As the sender of the text messages and the recofrttee December 17, 2015 voice mall
message the grievant is accountable to the retipfeahese messages as she is. If the recipient of
these text messages and the voice mail messaghrgsdtened, intimidated, or coerced by these
communications it is_her reaction to these messtiggsvere sent to and intended for her by Mr.
Rausch that determines whether the text messagegoice mail message are to be considered
threatening, intimidating, or coercive. If therenis basis for finding these messages threatening,
intimidating, or coercive, that is, no reasonal@despn would react to the contents of the messages
with foreboding or fear, the sender of these messagay be found to have committed no
threatening, intimidating, or coercive act .

The hearing record presents the sworn testimoisofThomas who spoke of her reaction
to the text messages she had received after heberigecember 17, 2015 voice mail message for
the first time on December 18, 2015. Ms. Thomasaction to the most recent text messages
prompted her to report the most recent text messagd the December 17, 2015 voice malil
message because Ms. Thomas came to believe thamibion exhibited in the angry tone and
content of the text messages was escalating, tksages were threatening Ms. Thomas and her
husband, and the angry communications from Mr. Blawgere beginning to intrude into the

workplace, affecting Ms. Thomas'’s job performantctha Operations Support Center.
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There is nothing unreasonable, capricious, otramy about Ms. Thomas’s reaction to the
December 17, 2015 voice mail message and text gesshrected to her by her ex-husband in
December, 2015 and January, 2016. Ms. Thomas lalietered these types of text messages in
the past, in 2013 and 2014. It does not seem meogtgidental that the messages resumed shortly
after Ms. Thomas’s marriage to Rick Thomas in OetpB015. In any event, Ms. Thomas received
angry text messages from Mr. Rausch in 2013 andt,28fhd was receiving them again in
December, 2015 and January, 2016.

The December 17, 2015 voice mail message was tgalkts. Thomas for the first time
on December 18, 2015 and Ms. Thomas initially ie&d from reporting this voice mail message
to her employer. However, having received text ragss from Mr. Rausch subsequent to the
December 17, 2015 voice mail message that haddedlthe command: “Die bitch,” and having
been described in the voice mail message once agairipiece-of-shit parent,” Ms. Thomas was
moved to report the situation to her employer. Msmas was also moved in mid-January, 2016
to petition for a civil protection order from theafklin County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas.
The civil protection order sought by Ms. Thomasleggito Mr. Rausch. The civil protection order
sought by Ms. Thomas was granted by the Court®fedanuary 19, 2016. This civil protection
order remains in effect today. Every action takgnMs. Thomas in January, 2016 reflected a
person who had feared what Mr. Rausch was plarivasgd on the text messages and voice mail
message that Mr. Rausch had directed to Ms. Thamiascember, 2015 and January, 2016, with
prior text messages in 2013 and 2014 serving dsggbaend to the more recent communications.

The arbitrator finds the actions of Ms. Thomasdaction to the text messages and voice
mail message directed to her by Mr. Rausch in Déegn2015 and January, 2016 to reflect a

person who had found the text messages threateniimgidating, and coercive. Because the effect
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of these threatening, intimidating, and coercivessages were brought to bear on an employee of
the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Corratt@ violation of rule 18 of the Standards of
Employee Conduct is proven. Rule 18 provides indage of a first violation for a range of
discipline that extends from a two-day suspensioa temoval.

The placement of the profane, derogatory, andopaisnessage left on the state telephone
assigned to Ms. Thomas was a misuse of state pyppamely a state telephone, a violation of
rule 5b of the Standards of Employee Conduct, @ thit provides in the case of a first violation
for a range of discipline that extends from a weritteprimand to a one day suspension.

The arbitrator also finds it more likely than rtbat the threatening, intimidating, and
coercive text messages directed to Ms. Thomas byRdusch affected, even compromised or
impaired the ability of Ms. Thomas to effectivelgry out her duties as a public employee. Ms.
Thomas spoke of her fears of this personal sitoegmlling over into the workplace and cited it
as one of the reasons she decided to report tnettisit to her employer on January 6, 2016. The
arbitrator finds the conduct of the grievant, prowe this case by a preponderance of evidence,
did violate rule 37 of the Standards of Employeandiat for which a first violation calls for a
range of discipline from a two-day suspension teraoval.

The arbitrator is less sure that Mr. Rausch’s bielaonstituted a threat to the security of
the facility, staff, or individuals under the supision of the Department, or a member of the
general public as prohibited by rule 38 of the 8tads of Employee Conduct. If the prohibition
expressed in rule 38 is similar to that which istpbited by rule 37, the violation of rule 38 is
simply duplicative of the violation of rule 37. thle 38, however, requires a showing of a
connection between the conduct of the grievantaahteach in the security of the facility, staff,

or inmates, such a showing is not made out by pgm@erance of evidence in the hearing record.
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The proven conduct of the grievant that is foumtldve violated rule 5b, rule 18, and rule
37 within the Standards of Employee Conduct opkagtievant to discipline by the Employer.
The violation of these rules provides the just eanseded by the Employer to impose discipline
as required by the language of Article 24, sec?ié®9l.

Having proven misconduct on the part of the gmyvaespecially the threatening,
intimidating, and coercive language directed to Wtsomas by Mr. Rausch in 2013, 2014, 2015,
and 2016, the issue of the severity of the disogimposed by the Employer arises, that is, whether
the discipline imposed on the grievant is propowie to the seriousness of the offenses that have
been proven. The Union correctly points out that ghievant's disciplinary history includes a
single written reprimand resulting from a tardyl adf in 2015, and the grievant’s sixteen year
work record with the Employer is otherwise exempkand highly valued.

The issue as to the discipline imposed upon tihevgnt does not ask the arbitrator to
express or apply his own views on what discipline arbitrator would have imposed on these
facts. The arbitrator is required to consider tiexidline imposed by the Employer and find
whether that discipline is grounded in just caisbased on proven misconduct that is sufficiently
serious to support the level of discipline imposaa] determine whether the discipline imposed
by the Employer presents an abuse of discretiahveas imposed arbitrarily or capriciously or
with a discriminatory intention.

The Employer in early January, 2016 was made agfare ongoing situation between Mr.
Rausch and Michelle Thomas, and was apprised digbleground to these events involving earlier
text messages from Mr. Rausch directed to his de&;wils. Thomas, in 2013 and 2014. The
Employer examined the recent text messages an@ vo#&l message and was apprised of the

earlier text messages and determined that the agrieiad committed misconduct that was
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sufficiently egregious to support the most sevéseipline allowed under the rules violated.

The arbitrator finds nothing arbitrary or capricsoar discriminatory in the Employer’s
exercise of its right to discipline for just cau3ée arbitrator finds no abuse of discretion in the
action taken by the Employer in this case. The esgrlanguage in the parties’ collective
bargaining agreement was carried out in effectiregdischarge of the grievant and in processing
the grievance that was filed to challenge Mr. Raisscemoval. The hearing record shows the
Employer has proven by a preponderance of the pe@that the grievant violated rules 5b, 18,
and 37 of the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation Godrection’s Standards of Employee Conduct
and that the violation of rules 18 and 37 of then8ards of Employee Conduct provide for a range
of discipline that includes removal for a firstefise. The arbitrator finds no abuse of discretion
on the part of the Employer in determining the lesediscipline to impose upon the proven
misconduct of the grievant. The arbitrator finds BEmployer’s determination that the misconduct
of the grievant was sufficiently egregious to supplischarge, on these facts, to be a valid and
enforceable action of the Employer, grounded it ¢gasise, and not in violation of the terms and
conditions of employment presented in the partefiective bargaining agreement.

Based on the foregoing, the arbitrator denies tlevance in its entirety.

[The remainder of this page is blank.]

46



AWARD

1. The grievance at issue in this proceedingadrable and properly before the arbitrator
for review and resolution.

2. The grievant, Kenneth Rausch, was removed frisnposition as a Correctional
Officer on May 6, 2016 for just cause.

3. The Employer presented to the hearing recoe@@rderating clear and convincing
evidence proving that grievant Kenneth Rausch tedlaules 5b, 18, and 37 of the
Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and CorrectioGtandards of Employee Conduct

and that such misconduct presents just cause isutiiz serious to support the
discharge of the grievant.

4. The grievance is denied.

Howwawrd D. SUlner

Howard D. Silver, Esquire
Arbitrator

500 City Park Avenue
Columbus, Ohio 43215
howard-silver@att.net

Columbus, Ohio
October 18, 2017
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